



#### Health Information and Quality Authority

An tÚdarás Um Fhaisnéis agus Cáilíocht Sláinte



# National Standards for the Conduct of Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents

2017



# About the Health Information and Quality Authority

The Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA) is an independent authority established to drive high-quality and safe care for people using our health and social care services in Ireland. HIQA's role is to develop standards, inspect and review health and social care services and support informed decisions on how services are delivered.

HIQA aims to safeguard people and improve the safety and quality of health and social care services across its full range of functions.

HIQA's mandate to date extends across a specified range of public, private and voluntary sector services.

Reporting to the Minister for Health and the Minister for Children and Youth Affairs, HIQA has statutory responsibility for:

- Setting Standards for Health and Social Services Developing personcentred standards, based on evidence and best international practice, for health and social care services in Ireland.
- **Regulation** Registering and inspecting designated centres.
- Monitoring Children's Services Monitoring and inspecting children's social services.
- Monitoring Healthcare Safety and Quality Monitoring the safety and quality of health services and investigating as necessary serious concerns about the health and welfare of people who use these services.
- Health Technology Assessment Providing advice that enables the best outcome for people who use our health service and the best use of resources by evaluating the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of drugs, equipment, diagnostic techniques and health promotion and protection activities.
- Health Information Advising on the efficient and secure collection and sharing of health information, setting standards, evaluating information resources and publishing information about the delivery and performance of Ireland's health and social care services.

National Standards for the Conduct of Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents Mental Health Commission and Health Information and Quality Authority

# About the Mental Health Commission

The Mental Health Commission (MHC) was established under the Mental Health Act 2001 to promote, encourage, and foster the establishment and maintenance of high standards and good practices in the delivery of mental health services in Ireland.

The MHC's remit includes the broad spectrum of mental health services including general adult mental health services, as well as mental health services for children and adolescents, older people, people with intellectual disabilities and forensic mental health services.

The MHC's role is to regulate and inspect mental health services, support continuous quality improvement and to protect the interests of those who are involuntarily admitted and detained under the Mental Health Act 2001. Legislation focuses the MHC's core activities into regulation and independent reviews.

#### **Regulation:**

- Registration and enforcement registering approved centres and enforcing associated statutory powers e.g. attaching registration conditions.
- Inspection inspecting approved centres and community mental health services and reporting on regulatory compliance and the quality of care.
- Quality improvement developing and reviewing rules under the Mental Health Act 2001. Developing standards, codes of practice and good practice guidelines. Monitoring the quality of service provision in approved centres and community services through inspection and reporting. Using our enforcement powers to maintain high-quality mental health services.

#### Independent reviews:

- Mental Health Tribunal Reviews administering the independent review system of involuntary admissions. Safeguarding the rights of those detained under the Mental Health Act 2001.
- Legal Aid Scheme administering of the mental health legal aid scheme.

# **Table of contents**

About the Health Information and Quality Authority		
About the Mental Health Commission	3	
Summary of the National Standards	6	
Key terms used in this document	9	
Key roles and responsibilities for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents	11	
1. Introduction	13	
2. Scope	16	
3. Themes	17	
4. Standards and features	17	
5. How the National Standards were developed	18	
The National Standards	19	
Theme 1: Governance and Accountability	20	
Theme 2: Person-centred Approach to the Review of Patient Safety Incidents	27	
Theme 3: Workforce	31	
Theme 4: Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents	37	
Theme 5: Sharing the Learning for Improvement	47	
Resources	49	
Glossary of terms in the context of these Standards	54	
Appendices	59	
Appendix 1 — Types of reviews of patient safety incidents	59	
Appendix 2 — Membership of the Standards Advisory Group	60	

# Summary of the National Standards

Theme 1: Go	overnance and Accountability
Standard 1	Service providers support a culture of patient safety that promotes trust, openness, empathy and respect in the review of patient safety incidents.
Standard 2	Service providers have formal governance structures in place service-wide for assuring timely and effective reviews of patient safety incidents.
Standard 3	Service providers have clear lines of accountability in place service-wide for the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.
Standard 4	Service providers implement a service-wide system to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of reviews of patient safety incidents.
Standard 5	Service providers have effective information governance structures in place service-wide for the management of information related to reviews of patient safety incidents.

# Theme 2: Person-centred Approach to the Review of Patient Safety Incidents

Standard 6	Service users and their families are actively engaged with as part of the review of patient safety incidents, and their views are listened to, respected and responded to in a timely manner.
Standard 7	Service users and families involved in a patient safety incident are appointed a service-user liaison to facilitate communication with the incident management/review team and access to support.
Standard 8	Service users and their families have access to relevant information related to the reviews of patient safety incidents, and this information is provided in an accessible format.

Theme 3: Workforce		
Standard 9	A staff liaison is appointed to facilitate communication with the incident management/review team and access to support for staff.	
Standard 10	Service providers establish a standing incident management team to oversee the management and review of patient safety incidents.	
Standard 11	Service providers have a skilled and experienced workforce in place to review patient safety incidents.	
Standard 12	Service providers ensure that training is delivered to staff on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.	

#### Theme 4: Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents

Standard 13	Service providers classify patient safety incidents using an agreed standardised taxonomy that is applied service-wide.
Standard 14	Personal information used in conducting reviews of patient safety incidents is pseudonymised using unique reference codes to protect confidentiality.
Standard 15	Service providers ensure a preliminary assessment of the patient safety incident takes place, and the decision on the appropriate level of review required is clearly documented.
Standard 16	Reviews of patient safety incidents are conducted using appropriate and proportionate methods, in line with the service's policy and procedures.
Standard 17	Reviews of patient safety incidents are conducted in a timely manner, in line with the service's policy and procedures.
Standard 18	Service providers ensure that a timely, comprehensive and accessible review report is produced, which accurately describes what happened and why it happened and makes recommendations to reduce risk and improve patient safety and service quality.
Standard 19	Service providers implement the recommendations and actions from patient safety incident-review reports.

#### Theme 5: Sharing the Learning for Improvement

#### Standard 20

Service providers have structures in place to actively share the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents service-wide.

# Key terms used in this document

This section includes the key terms which apply across the standards. A full list of relevant definitions is included in the glossary section of this document.

**Patient safety:** is the term used nationally and internationally to describe the freedom from unnecessary harm or potential harm associated with healthcare services and the reduction of risk of unnecessary harm to an acceptable minimum (World Health Organization, 2009). Where the term patient is used to describe 'patient safety incident', 'quality and patient safety committees' or 'patient safety data', it is intended to encompass all definitions of people who use healthcare (including mental health) services, such as service users in both acute and community healthcare settings.

**Patient safety incident:** as defined in the Health Information and Patient Safety Bill Revised General Scheme (2015) a 'patient safety incident' means:

- a) any unintended or unanticipated injury or harm to a service user that occurred during the provision of a health service,
- an event that occurred when providing a health service to a service user that did not result in actual injury or harm but there are reasonable grounds to believe that the event concerned placed the service user at risk of unintended or unanticipated injury or harm,
- c) an incident that was prevented from occurring due to timely intervention or chance and which there are reasonable grounds for believing could have resulted, if it had not been so prevented, in unintended or unanticipated injury or harm to a service user during the provision of a health service to that service user.

**Service user:** a 'service user' refers to a person who uses healthcare (including mental health) services.

**Family:** an individual who is a parent, guardian, son, daughter, spouse or civil partner of the service user, is cohabiting with the service user, or has been expressly identified by the service user to the health service provider as an individual to whom clinical information in relation to the service user may be disclosed. (Adapted from the definition of a connected person as per the General Scheme on Open Disclosure-Periodic Payment Orders 2015.) Family involvement is in line with the expressed wishes of the service user.

**Service:** a 'service' is used to describe any acute hospital or mental health service where care is provided to adults and or children.

**Service provider:** a 'service provider' is used to describe any organisation or part of an organisation, including its workforce, delivering acute hospital and mental health services to adults and or children.

**Service-wide:** at all levels within the overall organisational structure, including national, hospital group/community health organisation and service delivery levels.

**Review of a patient safety incident:** reviews of patient safety incidents involve a structured analysis and are conducted using best practice methods, to determine what happened, how it happened, why it happened, and whether there are learning points for the service, wider organisation, or nationally.

**Pseudonymisation:** is the technical process of replacing service user labels (that is to say, data items which identify service users, such as name, date of birth) in a dataset with other values (pseudonyms), from which the identities of individuals cannot be intrinsically inferred (adapted from Caldicott Guardian, National Health Service (NHS); 2009).

**Standard:** describes the high-level outcome required to achieve a quality, safe service.

**Features:** these, taken together, will enable progress towards achieving the standard.

A full glossary of terms can be found near the end of the document.

# Key roles and responsibilities for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents

For the purpose of these standards, described below are some of the key roles and responsibilities for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents. These roles may exist at various governance levels within the service such as service delivery, hospital group, community health organisation and national level and may have a broader remit in the management of patient safety incidents.

**Senior accountable officer:** this person has overall executive accountability for the management of patient safety incidents at the relevant governance level. In relation to the review of patient safety incidents, they ensure that the appropriate review into patient safety incidents is conducted in an effective and timely manner. The senior accountable officer is impartial and sufficiently removed from the incident.

**Incident management team:** the incident management team is an established standing group and includes senior staff who are responsible for overseeing the management of patient safety incidents and reporting into the relevant senior accountable officer at regular intervals to update on the progress of the review. Members of the incident management team are impartial and sufficiently removed from the incident.

**Incident review team:** the incident review team is responsible for reviewing patient safety incidents. Membership of the incident review team is determined by the incident management team in the context of the incident under review, and reviewers are impartial and sufficiently removed from the incident. The lead reviewer reports into the incident management team.

**Service-user liaison:** this person is a contact point at service delivery level for the service user involved in a patient safety incident. The service-user liaison may facilitate feedback between the service user and the incident management team and or incident review team, as appropriate during the review process. They may also facilitate access to support services. The service-user liaison is impartial and sufficiently removed from the incident.

**Staff liaison:** this person is a contact point at service delivery level for the staff member involved in a patient safety incident. The staff liaison may facilitate communication between the staff member and the incident management team and or the incident review team, as appropriate during the review process. They may also facilitate access to support services. The staff liaison is impartial and sufficiently removed from the incident.

**Quality and patient safety committees:** these refer to standing committees that meet regularly and have responsibility for overseeing the implementation of recommendations and actions from patient safety incident reviews and monitor how the learning from reviews is being shared for improvement. Members of the quality and patient safety committee also evaluate training programmes on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents and report to the relevant senior accountable officer.

# **1. Introduction**

Service users and members of the public expect to be safe when using health and mental health services. When the delivery of care falls below an acceptable standard and leads to a patient safety incident and or harm, people are entitled to openness. They are entitled to ask why an event has happened and to be assured that measures have been taken to protect them and others from similar harm in the future. Services must have effective systems in place to understand what went wrong, why it went wrong and what can be done to lessen the likelihood of a similar incident happening again.

Patient safety incidents must be managed in an open culture that learns from errors and takes corrective action to improve patient safety. When things go wrong, services need to act in a transparent, standardised and systematic way to review the incident and learn from it. As highlighted in the *Report of the Commission on Patient Safety and Quality Assurance* (2008) and Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA) investigations<sup>1</sup> into the quality and safety of health services — and additionally in the Mental Health Commission (MHC) Targeted Intervention<sup>2</sup> over the safety of mental health services — safety and quality is everyone's responsibility.

Patient safety incidents can also have a significant and serious effect on the health and wellbeing of staff involved in these incidents. Services need to recognise the potential effects of an incident and the subsequent burden of a review on staff and provide them with support and relevant services throughout the review process.

These National Standards sit within the overarching framework of:

- HIQA's National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare, in particular Standard 3.3, which aims to ensure that patient safety incidents are managed and reported in a timely manner in line with national legislation, policy, guidelines, and guidance where these exist
- the MHC's Quality Framework for Mental Health Services in Ireland in particular Theme 8: 'Systematic evaluation and review of mental health services underpinned by best practice, will enable providers to deliver quality services.'

These Standards aim to promote improvements in how services conduct reviews of patient safety incidents.

<sup>1</sup> Investigation into the safety, quality and standards of services provided by the Health Service Executive to service users, including pregnant women, at risk of clinical deterioration and as reflected in the care and treatment provided to Savita Halappanavar (2013) and the Report of the investigation into the safety, quality and standards of services provided by the Health Service Executive to service users in the Midland Regional Hospital, Portlaoise (2015).

<sup>2</sup> Report of the Targeted Intervention by the Office of Inspector of Mental Health Services, Mental Health Commission into the Carlow/Kilkenny/South Tipperary Mental Health Services (2015).

These National Standards were commissioned by the Department of Health and are underpinned by findings from the Chief Medical Officer's 2014 *Report on Perinatal Deaths in HSE Midland Regional Hospital Portlaoise*. This 2014 report had recommended developing national standards on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents, following the identification of shortfalls within the current system in Ireland. It had highlighted that there was:

- confusion regarding incident classification and method of review required
- inconsistency in the time taken to conduct and complete reviews
- variable quality of reviews
- an insufficient procedure for unique anonymisation.

These National Standards cover reviews of patient safety incidents which fit into a service's overall incident management process; this includes reporting, open disclosure and notification to external bodies. Service providers need to fully and openly inform and support service users as soon as possible after a patient safety incident affecting them has occurred, or becomes known, and continue to provide information and support as needed in line with the national policy on open disclosure.

On a practical level, the Standards endorse setting up and implementing structures and procedures for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents. As the size and scope of healthcare and mental health services differ across the country, a onesize-fits-all approach does not recognise the diverse nature of incidents, the context in which they could occur and the range of approaches that may be undertaken to conduct reviews of patient safety incidents.

Reviewing a patient safety incident can be a complex process and requires services to weigh up the outcome or potential outcome of the incident with the complexity of the incident to determine the appropriate level and method of review. Most patient safety incidents should continue to be managed at a service-delivery level, within a service's standing quality, safety and risk structures, and do not require involvement from the incident management team.

The role of the incident management team is to oversee the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents. It will ensure, where appropriate, a review is commissioned to determine what happened during the incident and why it happened and determine what learning can be derived to improve patient safety.

The methods and time frames for reviews of patient safety incidents must be appropriate and proportionate to the nature, severity and complexity of the incident. Above all, reviews must be focused on learning and improvement for the future. These National Standards promote the timely review of patient safety incidents, and services must be aware of the need for a timely review of the evidence and their duty of care to respond to those involved in the incident. The review of some incidents may be delayed due to factors outside of the service provider's control; however, services should try to respect the integrity of the review process. Any delays should be communicated to all parties involved in the incident as soon as the delay becomes apparent, and ongoing communication on the review is provided to all parties as required.

Services should use these Standards to support their existing patient safety governance structures for the review of patient safety incidents. These National Standards support services to use all available information following an incident to determine the appropriate level of review and methodology, as well as ensuring that the staff managing and undertaking reviews have the time and resources they need to carry out their functions effectively and efficiently.

The public has a vested interest in the quality and safety of healthcare and mental health services provided to them, their families and their communities. It is important that incidents are reviewed in a transparent, objective and standardised way, thereby sharing the learning between services to stop or reduce the likelihood of preventable incidents from reoccurring.

These National Standards build on a body of evidence-based policies and guidelines which have focused on patient safety incidents. The Standards were jointly developed by HIQA and the MHC, which together aim to promote a framework for best practice in the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents and intend to set a standard for cohesive, person-centred reviews of such incidents.

# 2. Scope

The Department of Health requested that a phased approach be taken towards developing these Standards, with an initial focus on service-specific standards for acute hospitals under HIQA's remit and mental health services under the remit of the MHC. Further standards will be developed to support a consistent national approach for the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents across wider health and social care settings. Service providers may determine that the principles of these standards may be applied to other health and social care settings in the interim.

Designated centres for older people and people with disabilities under the Health Act 2007 are not within the scope of these Standards. These services should refer to the relevant HIQA Standards and regulations for information on conducting reviews of incidents in social care services.

The requirements in these Standards are separate from existing obligations on providers to report adverse incidents to the State Claims Agency, in line with the National Treasury Management (Amendment) Act 2000; or by providers to the Chief Inspector of Social Services under the Health Act 2007; or the Mental Health Commission under the Mental Health Act, 2001; and any other relevant legislation.

# **3. Themes**

The National Standards for the Conduct of Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents are divided into five broad themes:

**Theme 1: Governance and Accountability** — The structures put in place by a service for accountability, decision-making, quality and risk management in relation to patient safety as well as meeting its strategic and statutory obligations.

**Theme 2: Person-centred Approach to the Review of Patient Safety Incidents** — How services place service users and their families at the centre of the review process, ensuring that service users and their families are well informed and supported at all times.

**Theme 3: Workforce** — How services provide resources and protect the time of staff involved in reviews of patient safety incidents and support the welfare of staff affected by and involved in patient safety incidents.

**Theme 4: Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents** — How services protect personal information used in the review of incidents, how they classify and define categories of patient safety incidents, use appropriate methods and time frames to review incidents and how they implement recommendations from reviews of patient safety incidents.

**Theme 5: Sharing the Learning for Improvement** — How services actively monitor, evaluate and improve patient safety through the implementation and sharing of learning from reviews of patient safety incidents.

# 4. Standards and features

These National Standards are outcome-based, which means that each Standard provides a specific outcome for the service to meet. This outcome is described in the 'standard statement'. The standard statement identifies the Standard and describes the high-level outcome required to deliver high-quality and effective management of patient safety incidents.

Underneath each standard statement is the list of features that a provider may have in place to meet each standard. These features are not an exhaustive list and service providers may meet the requirements of the Standards in different ways.

# 5. How the National Standards were developed

HIQA and the MHC carried out a focused desktop review of international and national literature to inform the development of the National Standards. This review took account of published research, investigations and reviews of patient safety incidents in Ireland and guidelines relating to the review of patient safety incidents in Ireland and other countries.

HIQA and the MHC convened a Standards Advisory Group made up of a diverse range of interested and informed parties. Members included service users, healthcare professionals, and representatives from the Department of Health, the Health Service Executive (HSE), the State Claims Agency, the Office of the Ombudsman and the Private Hospitals Association of Ireland.

The function of the Standards Advisory Group was to advise HIQA and the MHC during the development of the standards and on an appropriate public consultation process. Both regulatory organisations would like to acknowledge with gratitude the effort and commitment of the Standards Advisory Group. Membership of this group is listed in Appendix 2.

HIQA and the MHC also participated in and ran a series of focus groups with service users, staff and management involved in patient safety incidents. These groups discussed the experience of reviews of patient safety incidents and obtained opinions as to what issues the National Standards should address. HIQA and the MHC would like to acknowledge with gratitude all those who participated for taking the time to attend the sessions and contributing to the standards development process in such a meaningful way.

A national six-week public consultation on the published draft national standards ran from 26 September until 4 November 2016. Arising from the public consultation, 47 detailed submissions on the draft national standards were received by HIQA and the MHC, which considered these submissions and revised the Standards as appropriate. A summary of these submissions is available to read in a Statement of Outcomes document on **www.hiqa.ie** and **www.mhcirl.ie** 

# The National Standards

# Theme 1: Governance and Accountability

Patient safety depends on the culture of a service. Individual and collective leadership builds support for a culture of patient safety and inspires individuals and teams to strive for, and work together towards, achieving a common vision.

Effective governance structures and accountability arrangements for patient safety are fundamental prerequisites for the sustainable conduct of timely and effective reviews of patient safety incidents service-wide. A well-governed service is clear about what it does, how it does it, and is accountable to its stakeholders. It is unambiguous about who has overall executive accountability. The formalised governance arrangements at national, hospital group and or community health organisation level and service-delivery level ensure that there are clear lines of accountability so that everyone working in the service is aware of his or her responsibilities and accountability.

Services that have good governance structures and accountability arrangements will monitor performance to ensure consistency and quality so that they review patient safety incidents in a timely manner with minimal variation in such reviews servicewide.

Information governance provides a framework to bring together all the legislation, guidance and best available evidence that applies to the handling of information used in the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents. It provides a consistent approach for services at national, hospital group and or community health organisation and service delivery levels to ensure all information, including personal information, is handled securely, efficiently, effectively and in line with legislation. Information governance ensures that service providers protect and manage personal information in a sensitive and responsible manner.

Service providers support a culture of patient safety that promotes trust, openness, empathy and respect in the review of patient safety incidents.

- 1.1 Service providers have a charter in place which clearly outlines the rights of service users, and the service's responsibilities to service users and their families, including their rights in relation to the management and review of patient safety incidents.
- 1.2 Service providers promote a culture of mutual respect and trust between service users, families and healthcare professionals; and between healthcare professionals, managers and other staff.
- 1.3 Service providers promote respect for each person as an individual within services. Service providers ensure that service users are listened to and treated with kindness and respect at all times when conducting reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 1.4 Service providers communicate authentically, compassionately and respectfully with service users, families and staff involved in patient safety incidents, and they ensure open disclosure happens in line with national policy. Each person's voice is heard and his or her views are listened to and are taken into account in the review of patient safety incidents.
- 1.5 Service providers promote a culture of welcoming feedback, compliments, complaints and concerns in relation to conducting reviews of patient safety incidents. This information is used effectively to improve safety and promote learning throughout the service.
- 1.6 Service providers implement a communications strategy which promotes the importance of trust, openness, empathy and respect for service users, families and staff involved in patient safety incidents.
- 1.7 Service providers consult with service users, families and staff in the development of policy and guideline documents for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents. Documents are updated as and when required.

Service providers have formal governance structures in place service-wide for assuring timely and effective reviews of patient safety incidents.

- 2.1 Governance structures are in place which ensure the service effectively reviews patient safety incidents, minimises the risk of harm to service users and implements actions and learning from reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 2.2 Governance structures promote patient safety as a collective goal within the service to support the timely and effective review of patient safety incidents, including adherence to due process and fair procedure.
- 2.3 Service providers have integrated corporate and clinical governance structures which define roles, accountability and responsibilities throughout the service for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 2.4 Service providers demonstrate visible leadership in promoting a just culture of openness, quality and safety in the review of patient safety incidents through:
  - the service's statement of purpose (or equivalent)
  - design and delivery of services
  - code of governance (or equivalent)
  - allocation of resources and training
  - and monitoring and evaluation processes.
- 2.5 Service providers have a standardised approach to the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents service-wide in the following areas:
  - governance structures
  - reporting and escalation process
  - arrangements for feedback
  - staff skills and experience
  - workforce planning, including capacity building and protected time
  - training and induction of staff
  - peer support and mentoring of staff
  - access to specialist expertise and support

- tools to assist the decision-making process on the level and method of review required
- taxonomy
- pseudonymisation of personal information
- implementation of recommendations from reviews
- sharing the learning for improvement.
- 2.6 Governance structures are in place to assess service-wide performance and proactively monitor, analyse (including historical and trend analysis) and respond to information relevant to the review of patient safety incidents. This information includes:
  - patient safety data
  - audits, including clinical audits
  - surveys, including experience surveys and patient safety culture surveys
  - casemix, activity and performance data
  - complaints, compliments and concerns
  - findings from risk assessments
  - legal claims
  - findings and recommendations from local, national and international reviews and investigations.
- 2.7 Governance structures enable the oversight of reviews of patient safety incidents, including the review process, implementation of recommendations and sharing learning from reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 2.8 Service providers have governance structures in place for positive and cooperative relationships with other agencies, as appropriate, to support the effective review of patient safety incidents; this includes procedures on information sharing and interagency working.

Service providers have clear lines of accountability in place service-wide for the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.

- 3.1 Service providers demonstrate clear lines of accountability for the review of patient safety incidents by having:
  - a senior accountable officer at the highest governance level with overall executive accountability, responsibility and authority for the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents
  - identified individuals at hospital group/community health organisation level who have delegated accountability, responsibility and authority, from the senior accountable officer, for the reviews of patient safety incidents, through the relevant governance structures
  - identified senior individuals at service delivery level who have delegated accountability, responsibility and authority, from the senior accountable officer, for the reviews of patient safety incidents, through the relevant governance structures.
- 3.2 The availability of an up-to-date, publicly available, organisational chart detailing the lines of accountability of individuals and groups involved in the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents at national, hospital group/community health organisation and service delivery levels.
- 3.3 All staff are aware of their role and responsibilities in relation to reviews of patient safety incidents and adhere to the service's policy and procedure in relation to the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.

Service providers implement a service-wide system to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of reviews of patient safety incidents.

- 4.1 Service providers monitor the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents on a monthly basis in adherence with relevant national policy, standards and guidelines.
- 4.2 Service providers publish an annual overview report on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents. This should include adherence to time frames for reviews and how actions and recommendations from reviews are being implemented in the service.
- 4.3 Service providers evaluate the systems for monitoring the effectiveness of the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents on an annual basis.
- 4.4 Service providers have a quality and patient safety committee in place to ensure that any recommendations or actions required from the review of a patient safety incident are implemented.
- 4.5 Service providers evaluate the findings of reviews of patient safety incidents and any actions required and share relevant learning locally and nationally to improve the quality and safety of the service.
- 4.6 Service providers evaluate the incident review process and incident review reports to identify opportunities for improvement for implementation service-wide.
- 4.7 Service providers, in consultation with service users and staff, develop and implement quality improvement programmes to actively improve services based on the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents. These programmes are evaluated annually.

Service providers have effective information governance structures in place service-wide for the management of information related to reviews of patient safety incidents.

- 5.1 Service providers ensure that the service complies with relevant legislation, uses information ethically and uses national standards and guidelines to protect personal information used in the review of patient safety incidents.
- 5.2 There are procedures in place for information governance for conducting reviews of patient safety incidents which comply with relevant legislation<sup>3</sup> and ensures:
  - information used by the service is of a high quality<sup>4</sup>
  - the sharing of relevant personal information within and outside of the service protects the security of information, privacy and confidentiality of individuals
  - consent to access and publish personal health information is sought in line with national policy, legislation and guidelines
  - service users and their records are identified using a unique identification code<sup>5</sup> to avoid duplication and misidentification.
- 5.3 Information, in both paper and electronic formats, relating to the review of patient safety incidents is held securely by the service and is protected from unauthorised access.
- 5.4 Service providers have procedures in place for the creation, use, protection, storage and disposal of personal information relating to the review of patient safety incidents that adhere to the relevant legislation, national standards and guidelines.
- 5.5 There is an annual evaluation of the service's record management practices and systems for information related to the review of patient safety incidents. Where appropriate, action is taken to address areas for improvement.

<sup>3</sup> For example, Freedom of Information Act, 2014 and the Data Protection Acts, 1988 and 2003.

<sup>4</sup> Health Information and Quality Authority. *What you should know about Data Quality: A Guide for Health and Social Care Staff* (2012)

<sup>5</sup> See Standard 14 on pseudonymisation.

## Theme 2: Person-centred Approach to the Review of Patient Safety Incidents

A person-centred approach to patient safety places service users at the centre of all that the service does. It does this by protecting their rights, respecting their values, and actively supporting and involving them in the review of patient safety incidents. Services that are person-centred promote kindness, openness, consideration, compassion and respect in how they engage with service users and their families involved in patient safety incidents.

Service providers promote a culture of open disclosure, active listening, supporting and actively engaging with service users and their families throughout the review process and having a review process that is informed by the experience of service users. Service providers respect service users' expressed preferences in relation to communication with family members.

Good service-user experiences are an important outcome for all healthcare and mental health services. Being person-centred means service providers communicate in a manner that supports developing a relationship based on trust. Providing a service-user liaison to communicate with service users and their families during the incident management and review process supports the flow of timely and accessible information and acts as a link between the service user and the incident management or review team.

Services providing person-centred care recognise the potential impact that patient safety incidents can have on individuals and their families. People are supported throughout the incident-review process so that they experience a person-centred service that responds in a manner that places service users at the centre of all that it does.

Service users and their families are actively engaged with as part of the review of patient safety incidents, and their views are listened to, respected and responded to in a timely manner.

- 6.1 Service users and their families are made aware of their rights, have their rights protected and their views respected and responded to by service providers in the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents. This includes respecting a service user's right not to engage in the review process.
- 6.2 Service users and their families involved in the review of patient safety incidents experience empathy, kindness, dignity and respect in their communication and interaction with service providers.
- 6.3 Service users and their families are actively engaged with by service providers during the review process and are informed of key developments as the review progresses.
- 6.4 Service users and their families are facilitated to provide feedback on their experience of the review process. Where areas for improvement are identified, the service provider takes action to address the issues raised.
- 6.5 Service users and their families are advised of support and advocacy services available to them.

Service users and families involved in a patient safety incident are appointed a service-user liaison to facilitate communication with the incident management/review team and access to support.

- 7.1 Service providers identify a service-user liaison, with the necessary skills and experience, to act as a point of contact between the service user<sup>6</sup> and their family and the incident management/review team.
- 7.2 The service-user liaison is the main point of contact for the service user and their family and ensures that the service user involved in the incident and their family:
  - are provided with information as soon as possible and in an accessible format
  - meet with a member of the incident management team to highlight issues they may wish to see addressed in the review
  - have an opportunity to engage with the review team, in accordance with their wishes
  - receive regular updates on the progress of the review, including where there are delays
  - can review and provide feedback on the terms of reference, chronology of events and any findings or recommendations prior to submission of the final draft review report for sign off by the senior accountable officer
  - receive a copy of the final report and advance notification of publication
  - are facilitated to raise any concerns with the review process with the senior accountable officer
  - and are facilitated to access support and advocacy services, where requested.
- 7.3 Service providers ensure that service-user liaisons have access to protected time, if required, and training to meet the requirements of the role.

<sup>6</sup> In some circumstances, for example in the event of the death of a service user, the liaison will consult and liaise with the service user's family.

Service users and their families have access to relevant information related to the reviews of patient safety incidents, and this information is provided in an accessible format.

- 8.1 Service users and their families are given information on how reviews are conducted in an accessible format, for example, in an information leaflet. Information includes how services determine the appropriate type of review of a patient safety incident.
- 8.2 Service users and their families are provided with assistance and support to access and understand information on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents, in accordance with their wishes.
- 8.3 Service users and their families are facilitated to access their personal health information.

## Theme 3: Workforce

The workforce consists of all the people who work in, for, or with the service provider, and they are all integral to the delivery of patient safety. The individual members of a workforce must be skilled and competent, and the workforce as a whole must be planned and managed to achieve these objectives.

The workforce has a key role in patient safety and should be supported to carry out its roles and responsibilities through the organisation's safety culture. Effective recruitment of competent staff and workforce planning ensure that staff members involved in the oversight and conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents have the necessary skills and experience to undertake their role. Services also need to facilitate staff to have access to the right training to be able to carry out their role effectively.

Supporting the workforce includes service providers assisting staff involved in patient safety incidents by actively listening to their views and providing a staff liaison throughout the incident-review process for staff members who are involved in patient safety incidents. The staff liaison is a point of contact between the individual staff member and the incident management or review team.

A staff liaison is appointed to facilitate communication with the incident management/review team and access to support for staff.

- 9.1 Service providers identify a staff liaison with the necessary skills and experience to act as a point of contact between the staff member involved in the patient safety incident and the incident management/review team.
- 9.2 The staff liaison is the main point of contact for staff involved in a patient safety incident and ensures that the member of staff involved in the incident:
  - is provided with information as soon as possible and in an accessible format
  - has an opportunity to meet with a member of the incident management team to highlight issues they may wish to see addressed in the review
  - receives regular updates on the progress of the review, including where there are delays
  - can review and provide feedback on the chronology of events and any findings or recommendations prior to submission of the final draft review report for sign off by the senior accountable officer
  - receives a copy of the final report and advance notification of publication
  - is facilitated to raise any concerns with the review process with the senior accountable officer
  - and is facilitated to access support services, where requested.
- 9.3 Service providers ensure that staff liaisons have access to protected time, if required, and training to meet the requirements of the role.

Service providers establish a standing incident management team<sup>7</sup> to oversee the management and review of patient safety incidents.

- 10.1 Service providers ensure they have a standing incident management team in place to oversee the management and review of patient safety incidents.
- 10.2 The incident management team provides oversight of the incident management process by:
  - assuring the immediate response to the incident was appropriate
  - ensuring all immediate care needs of the service user have been met
  - assuring the safety and wellbeing of service users, families and staff involved in the incident
  - ensuring the appointment of service-user liaisons and staff liaisons
  - ensuring equipment or medication involved in a patient safety incident is retained, labelled and isolated, and relevant documentation is copied and secured to preserve evidence and facilitate review and learning
  - ensuring that the risk of harm to other persons arising from the incident is minimised
  - overseeing the preliminary assessment of the incident and deciding on the response required.

<sup>7</sup> Most patient safety incidents should continue to be managed at a service-delivery level, within a service's standing quality, safety and risk structures, and do not require involvement from the incident management team.

10.3 The incident management team provides oversight of the review process by:

- determining the appropriate level and method of review required
- establishing a process for the provision of updates on the review's progress
- establishing a process for the receipt and consideration of feedback on the terms of reference, draft review report and review process
- determining the terms of reference for a review
- overseeing of the time frames for completion of a review
- determining the review team members and reporting arrangements
- receiving and considering the review report
- ensuring the completion of the review process
- establishing the arrangements for the sharing of the learning from the review.
- 10.4 The membership of the incident management team is multidisciplinary and may include representation from the following areas, where relevant and appropriate:
  - senior accountable officer
  - senior clinicians and or managers
  - service-user leads
  - risk management
  - complaints officer
  - human resources
  - other appropriate personnel.
- 10.5 Service providers facilitate access to peer support/mentoring for all members of the incident management team, where required.
- 10.6 Service providers facilitate protected time for the incident management team to oversee the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 10.7 Service providers facilitate access to any specialist supports, expertise or advice required to support the incident management team.

Service providers have a skilled and experienced workforce in place to review patient safety incidents.

- 11.1 Service providers have a framework in place which details the roles, responsibilities, skills and experience for all staff involved in the review of patient safety incidents.
- 11.2 Service providers ensure that there are adequate numbers of trained personnel available to conduct reviews of patient safety incidents in the service.
- 11.3 Service providers engage in workforce planning to build capacity in conducting reviews of patient safety incidents and expertise at all levels.
- 11.4 Service providers facilitate access to peer support and or mentoring for staff conducting reviews of patient safety incidents, where required.
- 11.5 Service providers facilitate protected time for staff to conduct reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 11.6 Service providers facilitate access to any specialist supports, expertise or advice required to support the incident review team.

Service providers ensure that training is delivered to staff on the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents.

- 12.1 Staff, appropriate to their role, receive induction and ongoing training on conducting reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 12.2 Staff receive training, appropriate to their role, in how to communicate with and provide support to service users, family and staff involved in reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 12.3 Training methods make use of a variety of approaches including case studies and participation from service users, families and staff who have been involved in reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 12.4 Service providers ensure that training programmes clearly identify the intended learning outcomes for both the participants and the service.
- 12.5 Training programmes are regularly evaluated by the relevant quality and patient safety committee using feedback from staff who participate in the training and feedback from the trainer. Training programme content is revised accordingly.
- 12.6 A training needs analysis is undertaken annually, by the service provider, to identify opportunities to improve the training programmes on conducting reviews of patient safety incidents.

# Theme 4: Reviews of Patient Safety Incidents

Services with a strong patient safety culture ensure that there are effective arrangements in place for the timely completion of reviews of patient safety incidents, commissioned by the incident management team.

This is best done through:

- classifying patient safety incidents using an agreed standardised taxonomy
- providing tools to assist staff in identifying the most appropriate level of and method of review for the different types of patient safety incidents
- and completing the reviews within specified time frames.

Services also communicate regularly with service users and staff through the relevant liaison to ensure that they are regularly updated and informed of the progress of the review.

Services promote the effective review of incidents through determining the level of review and using the appropriate methods, using standardised decision-making tools.

Services use the appropriate methods to conduct the review and report on what happened during the patient safety incident and why it happened. They take prompt action on recommendations and action plans for implementation in the service to prevent reoccurrence and to promote improvements in patient safety.

Pseudonymisation of personal information of service users, families and staff involved in the reviews of incidents protects confidentiality and ensures that a structured method of unique identification is implemented.

Service providers classify patient safety incidents using an agreed standardised taxonomy that is applied service-wide.

- 13.1 Patient safety incidents are clearly defined within the service using an agreed standardised taxonomy, derived from the World Health Organization (WHO) Conceptual Framework for the International Classification of Patient Safety.<sup>8</sup>
- 13.2 All policies and procedures relating to the conduct of reviews of patient safety incidents use an agreed, standardised taxonomy and have clear definitions in place for patient safety incidents.
- 13.3 Staff use an agreed, standardised taxonomy when conducting reviews of patient safety incidents and have clear definitions for the different types of patient safety incidents.

<sup>8</sup> World Health Organization. Conceptual Framework for the International Classification for Patient Safety. 2009.

Personal information used in conducting reviews of patient safety incidents is pseudonymised<sup>9</sup> using unique reference codes to protect confidentiality.

- 14.1 There is a service-wide policy and procedure in place for the pseudonymisation of personal information relevant to service users, families and staff involved in reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 14.2 A standardised, agreed system of unique identification codes is used in the service to protect the confidentiality of service users, families and staff involved in patient safety incidents.
- 14.3 Personal information is pseudonymised by the service provider in the publication of any incident review reports.

<sup>9</sup> Pseudonymisation refers to the technical process of replacing labels which identify service users (such as name, date of birth) in a dataset with other values (pseudonyms), from which the identities of individuals cannot be intrinsically inferred (adapted from Caldicott Guardian, National Health Service (NHS); 2009).

Service providers ensure a preliminary assessment of the patient safety incident takes place, and the decision on the appropriate level of review required is clearly documented.

- 15.1 Service providers have a policy and procedure in place detailing the process used to determine the appropriate level of review required for different categories of patient safety incidents.
- 15.2 Serious incidents<sup>10</sup> are notified to the Senior Accountable Officer within 24 hours of their identification.
- 15.3 The Senior Accountable Officer ensures that a preliminary assessment of the incident is undertaken to determine the appropriate level of review required, in line with the service's policy and procedure.
- 15.4 The preliminary assessment is completed within five working days following notification of the incident to the Senior Accountable Officer.
- 15.5 Service providers have standardised tools in place to assist staff in determining the appropriate level of review required for each type of incident.
- 15.6 Service providers determine the level of review required for patient safety incidents, taking into account:
  - the impact or potential impact of harm on service users
  - the risk of reoccurrence
  - the outcome of the incident
  - the complexity of the incident
  - the characteristics of the incident
  - the nature of the care setting
  - and the potential for learning.

<sup>10</sup> Serious incidents that require notification to the Senior Accountable Officer in line with the service's policy and procedure.

- 15.7 The levels<sup>11</sup> of review for patient safety incidents are determined by the level of severity of the incident and the potential for learning and improvement and include:
  - concise internal reviews<sup>12</sup>
  - comprehensive internal reviews<sup>13</sup>
  - external independent reviews.<sup>14</sup>
- 15.8 The level of review may be revised in light of information received during the review process. Decisions relating to the appropriate level of review required and the time frame for the commencement of the review are based on the findings of the preliminary assessment and are documented by the service.
- 15.9 Where the decision is made by the incident management team that a review is not appropriate, such incidents are subject to periodic aggregate analysis to identify trends and opportunities for learning, risk reduction and quality improvement.

11 Adapted from the National Health Service (NHS) England. *NHS England Serious Incident Framework*. London: National Health Service England; 2015.

<sup>12</sup> These reviews are suited to less complex incidents and can be managed by individuals or a small team at a local level.

<sup>13</sup> These reviews are suited to more complex incidents and may involve a multidisciplinary team at either a local or national level.

<sup>14</sup> These reviews may be commissioned externally by the service where the objectivity or integrity of an internal review maybe challenged or for particularly complex incidents which involve multiple services.

Reviews of patient safety incidents are conducted using appropriate and proportionate methods, in line with the service's policy and procedures.

- 16.1 Service providers have a policy and procedures and guideline documents that outline the methods to be used for the review of patient safety incidents, appropriate to the care setting. These documents are developed in line with best practice.
- 16.2 The methods<sup>15</sup> used to conduct reviews of patient safety incidents include but are not limited to:
  - after-action review
  - aggregate review
  - human factors analysis
  - review of care against policies, procedures and guidelines
  - systems analysis.
- 16.3 The review is conducted using the appropriate methodology and will identify, where relevant, the:
  - chronology of events leading up to the patient safety incident
  - what happened
  - why it happened
  - incidental findings
  - recommendations for action to reduce risk and improve quality and safety.
- 16.4 Where reviews of patient safety incidents are being conducted in parallel with other external<sup>16</sup> investigations by statutory bodies, the incident management team must engage with the relevant agency to inform them that the review is underway.

<sup>15</sup> A description of each of these review methods is included in Appendix 1.

<sup>16</sup> External investigations can include those conducted by the State Claims Agency, Health Information and Quality Authority, Mental Health Commission, An Garda Síochána, Medical Council, CORU, Health and Safety Authority, Office of the Ombudsman and the Nursing and Midwifery Board of Ireland.

Reviews of patient safety incidents are conducted in a timely manner, in line with the service's policy and procedures.

- 17.1 The following time frames for reviews of patient safety incidents are implemented by the service:
  - concise internal reviews are completed no later than 60 calendar days after the decision to review has been made
  - comprehensive internal reviews are completed no later than 120 calendar days after the decision to review has been made
  - external independent reviews, commissioned by the service, are completed no later than 120 calendar days after the decision to review has been made.
- 17.2 Where there are delays to the review time frames, these are documented by the review team, considered by the incident management team and an action plan put in place.
- 17.3 As soon as a delay is identified, the reasons for the delay and the revised time frame are communicated verbally and in writing to the service user and staff member through the appropriate liaison (service user or staff).

Service providers ensure that a timely, comprehensive and accessible review report<sup>17</sup> is produced, which accurately describes what happened and why it happened and makes recommendations to reduce risk and improve patient safety and service quality.

- 18.1 The service provider has a policy, procedure and guideline document on the structure, content and language to be used in the reporting of reviews of patient safety incidents to ensure quality and consistency in all review reports.
- 18.2 Depending on the level and method of review, review reports may contain:
  - the terms of reference
  - the membership of the review team
  - the methodology applied to the review process and the rationale for why the decision to use this methodology was made
  - a summary of the background to the incident
  - any actions taken immediately following identification of the incident and during the review process
  - what happened during the incident or incidents
  - why it happened
  - any incidental findings
  - an apology or expression of regret to all those affected
  - the recommendations and actions identified for implementation
  - a section relating to responsibility for implementing recommendations and arrangements for sharing the learning with other services nationally
  - and a glossary of key terms used in the report.

<sup>17</sup> Review reports are developed for concise internal, comprehensive internal and external independent reviews.

- 18.3 Review reports are written in clear simple language which is accessible and easy to understand, and avoids the use of jargon.
- 18.4 All parties involved in the patient safety incident have an opportunity to review and provide feedback on the findings and recommendations of the report, in advance of it being finalised.
- 18.5 The review team prepares and quality assures the report and checks for consistency, factual accuracy and readability prior to submission to the senior accountable officer.
- 18.6 The final draft report is presented to the incident management team and the senior accountable officer for sign off to ensure that the terms of reference of the review have been met.
- 18.7 Service providers have arrangements in place for meeting with relevant staff to brief them on the report in advance of wider circulation of the report.
- 18.8 The service-user liaison ensures that the service user involved in the incident receives a copy of the final report and advance notice of the publication date, once confirmed.
- 18.9 The staff liaison ensures that the staff member involved in the incident receives a copy of the final report and advance notice of the publication date, once confirmed.

Service providers implement the recommendations and actions from patient safety incident-review reports.

- 19.1 Services develop an implementation plan, based on the recommendations from the patient safety incident-review report. The plan outlines the actions to be taken, responsible person or people, time frames and the resources required to implement each action. Actions in the implementation plan should be SMART.<sup>18</sup>
- 19.2 Service users and staff involved in patient safety incidents are informed of the implementation plan, how it will be monitored and how the learning is being shared service-wide.
- 19.3 Quality and patient safety committees oversee the implementation of recommendations and actions required from reviews of patient safety incidents and have assurance processes in place to monitor the effectiveness of the actions taken.
- 19.4 The effectiveness of the plan for implementing recommendations from reviews of patient safety incidents is evaluated at regular intervals by the service and any necessary actions for improvement are initiated.

<sup>18</sup> Actions should be specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time-bound (SMART).

# Theme 5: Sharing the Learning for Improvement

Following a review of a patient safety incident, it is essential that any learning identified from the review is shared locally and nationally to drive improvements in patient safety and to prevent reoccurrence of a similar incident. Discussion on the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents should be actively promoted within the service to encourage a positive safety culture.

Service providers should develop an implementation plan that uses a range of approaches for sharing the learning, to best fit the needs of the particular service. A service that is effective at sharing the learning should also use any learning to inform other areas of development such as training, policy and workforce planning.

Working in partnership with external bodies to share the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents can also promote improvements in patient safety.

Service providers have structures in place to actively share the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents service-wide.

- 20.1 Service providers implement a plan to share learning from reviews of patient safety incidents service-wide. This plan should identify responsibilities of staff involved in sharing the learning and the range of mechanisms that will be used. This includes but is not limited to summary reports of incident reviews, safety alerts, seminars and online modules.
- 20.2 Quality and patient safety committees oversee the implementation of sharing the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents.
- 20.3 Service providers actively promote discussion on the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents to promote a positive safety culture service-wide.
- 20.4 Learning from reviews of patient safety incidents are used to inform work practices, training for staff, policy development, workforce planning and service planning, where relevant.
- 20.5 The effectiveness of the plan for sharing the learning is evaluated by the service and any necessary actions to improve the learning process are initiated.
- 20.6 Service providers work in partnership with external bodies, as appropriate, to share the learning from reviews of patient safety incidents.

## **Resources**<sup>19</sup>

Commission on Patient Safety and Quality Assurance. *Building a Culture of Patient Safety: Report of the Commission on Patient Safety and Quality Assurance*. Dublin: The Stationery Office; 2008. Available online from: <u>http://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/building-a-culture-of-patient-safety-report-of-the-commission-on-patient-safety-and-quality-assurance/</u>

Danish Society for Patient Safety (Patientsikkerhed). *Root Cause Analysis. Compendium for use by Patient Safety Officers and others responsible for conducting root cause analysis of adverse events.* Copenhagen: Danish Society for Patient Safety (Patientsikkerhed); 2004. Available online from: <u>http://arkiv.</u> <u>patientsikkerhed.dk/media/609920/compendia root cause analysis english.pdf</u>

Department of Health. *Report on Perinatal Deaths in HSE Midland Regional Hospital Portlaoise*. Dublin: Department of Health; 2014. Available online from: <u>http://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/hse-midland-regional-hospital-portlaoise-perinatal-deaths-2006-date/</u>

Department of Health.General Scheme of the Health Information and Patient Safety Bill, 2015. Available online from: <u>http://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/general-</u> scheme-of-health-information-and-patient-safety-bill/

Department of Health. General Scheme of Provisions on Open Disclosure, 2015. Available online from: <u>http://health.gov.ie/blog/publications/general-scheme-of-provisions-on-open-disclosure/</u>

Department of Health (UK). *Culture change in the NHS: Applying the lessons of the Francis Inquiries*. Department of Health: London; 2015. Available online from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/culture-change-in-the-nhs</u>

Doupi P. National Reporting Systems for Patient Safety Incidents, a review of the situation in Europe. Helsinki: National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL); Report No.: 13. 2009. Available online from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270823552 National Reporting Systems for Patient Safety Incidents A review\_of the situation in Europe 13 2009\_REPORT</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. 'As is' analysis of patient safety intelligence systems and structures in Ireland. Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2016. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/</u>recommendations-coordination-patient-safety-intelligence-ireland

<sup>19</sup> All online references were accessed at the time of preparing these National Standards.

Health Information and Quality Authority. *International review of patient safety surveillance systems*. Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2016. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/recommendations-coordination-patient-safety-intelligence-ireland</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. *Investigation into the safety, quality and standards of services provided by the Health Service Executive to patients, including pregnant women, at risk of clinical deterioration and as reflected in the care and treatment provided to Savita Halappanavar.* Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2013. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/system/files/</u> <u>Patient-Safety-Investigation-UHG.pdf</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. *Linking learning to National Standards: How recommendations from previous HIQA investigation, statutory inquiry and review reports (2009–2015) relate to specific National Standards for Safer Better Healthcare*. Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2015. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/linking-learning-national-standards-how-</u> <u>recommendations-previous-hiqa-investigation-sta</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. *Recommendations on the coordination of patient safety intelligence in Ireland*. Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2016. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/</u><u>recommendations-coordination-patient-safety-intelligence-ireland</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. *Report of the investigation into the safety, quality and standards of services provided by the Health Service Executive to patients in the Midland Regional Hospital, Portlaoise*. Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2015. Available online from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/report-investigation-safety-quality-and-standards-services-provided-health-service-exec</u>

Health Information and Quality Authority. *Report of the investigation into the quality, safety and governance of the care provided by the Adelaide and Meath Hospital, Dublin incorporating the National Children's Hospital (AMNCH) for patients who require acute admission.* Dublin: Health Information and Quality Authority; 2012. Available online from: <a href="https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/report-investigation-quality-safety-and-governance-care-provided-adelaide-and-meath-hos">https://www.hiqa.ie/publications/report-investigation-quality-safety-and-governance-care-provided-adelaide-and-meath-hos</a>

Health Quality and Safety Commission. *New Zealand Health and Disability Services: National Reportable Events Policy*. Wellington: Health Quality and Safety Commission; 2012. Available online from: <u>http://www.hqsc.govt.nz/ourprogrammes/adverse-events/publications-and-resources/publication/320/</u>

Health Service Executive. *Final Report of the investigation of Incident 50278, from the time of the patient's self referral to hospital on the 21st of October 2012, to the patient's death on the 28th of October, 2012.* Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2012. Available online from: <u>http://www.lenus.ie/hse/handle/10147/293964</u>

Health Service Executive. *Guideline for Systems Analysis: Investigation of Incidents and Complaints*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2012. Available online from: <a href="http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/qualityandpatientsafety/resourcesintelligence/Quality">http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/qualityandpatientsafety/resourcesintelligence/Quality and Patient Safety Documents/QPSDGL5211.pdf</a>

Health Service Executive. *HSE Standards and Recommended Practice for Healthcare Records Management V3.0.* Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2011. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/healthcarerecords/</u>

Health Service Executive. *Midland Hospital Portlaoise Systems Analysis Review Report: Review of Care of Shauna Keyes*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.lenus.ie/hse/bitstream/10147/594472/1/</u> Portlaoisereviewcareshaunakeyes.pdf

Health Service Executive. *Safety Incident Management Policy*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2014. Available online from: <u>https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/</u> <u>qualityandpatientsafety/MeasuringandLearning/SCDQIDQIProgramme/Safety\_</u> <u>Incident Management Policy.pdf</u>

Health Service Executive. *Special Report: Serious Reportable Events*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/news/media/pressrel/newsarchive/archive15/nov15/sres.html</u>

Health Service Executive. *Systems Analysis Review into the death of Baby Mark Molloy*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/eng/services/publications/hospitals/babymolloyrpt/</u>

Health Service Executive. *National Consent Policy*. Dublin: Health Service Executive; 2014. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/</u> <u>qualityandpatientsafety/National Consent Policy/consenttrainerresource/trainerfiles/</u> <u>NationalConsentPolicyDOC.html</u>

Health Service Executive and the State Claims Agency. *Open Disclosure: National Guidelines — Communicating with service users and their families following adverse events in healthcare*. Dublin: Health Service Executive and the State Claims Agency; 2013. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/gualityandpatientsafety/nau/Open\_Disclosure/</u>

Health Service Executive and the State Claims Agency. *Open Disclosure: National Policy*. Dublin: Health Service Executive and the State Claims Agency; 2013. Available online from: <u>http://www.hse.ie/eng/about/Who/qualityandpatientsafety/nau/Open\_Disclosure/</u>

Healthcare Improvement Scotland. *Learning from adverse events: Learning and improvement summary*. Edinburgh: Healthcare Improvement Scotland; 2016. Available online from: <u>http://www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our\_work/governance\_and\_assurance/learning\_from\_adverse\_events/learning\_report\_2016.aspx</u>

Healthcare Improvement Scotland. *Learning from adverse events through reporting and review: A national framework for NHS Scotland*. Edinburgh: Healthcare Improvement Scotland; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.</u> <u>healthcareimprovementscotland.org/our\_work/governance\_and\_assurance/learning</u> <u>from\_adverse\_events/national\_framework.aspx</u>

Healthcare Safety Investigation Branch Expert Advisory Group. *Improving safety investigations in healthcare*. London: Department of Health; 2016. Available online from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-safety-investigations-in-healthcare</u>

House of Commons Public Administration Select Committee. *Investigating clinical incidents in the NHS*. London; The Stationery Office; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmpubadm/886/88602.htm</u>

Mental Health Commission. *Quality Framework for Mental Health Services in Ireland*. Dublin: Mental Health Commission; 2007. Available online from: <u>http://www.mhcirl.ie/for\_H\_Prof/NSforMHS/</u>

Mental Health Commission. *Report of the Targeted Intervention by the Office of Inspector of Mental Health Services, Mental Health Commission into the Carlow/Kilkenny/South Tipperary Mental Health Services*. Dublin. Mental Health Commission, 2015. Available online from: <u>http://www.mhcirl.ie/File/TarlnvRrptbyOIMHS.pdf</u>

National Advisory Group on the Safety of Patients in England. *A promise to learn, a commitment to act: Improving the safety of patients in England.* National Advisory Group on the Safety of Patients in England: London; 2013. Available online from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/berwick-review-into-patient-safety</u>

National Health Service England. *NHS England Serious Incident Framework*. London: National Health Service England; 2015. Available online from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/patientsafety/serious-incident/</u>

National Health Service England. *The Caldicott Guardian-Edition 10*. London: National Health Service; 2009. Available online from: <u>http://www.sapior.com/</u><u>Caldicott\_guardian\_issue10.pdf</u>

National Patient Safety Agency. *Three Levels of RCA Investigation-Guidance*. London: National Patient Safety Agency; 2008. Available online from: <u>http://www.nrls.npsa.nhs.uk/resources/?entryid45=59847</u>

Northern Ireland Health and Social Care Board. *Procedure for the Reporting and Follow-Up of Serious Adverse Incidents*. Belfast: Northern Ireland Health and Social Care Board; 2013. Available online from: <u>http://www.southerntrust.hscni.net/pdf/</u> FOI Response 2016 418 HSCB Procedure for the reporting and follow up of <u>SAIs - October 2013.pdf</u> Provincial Health Services Authority. *Patient Safety Event Management and Review Policy*. British Columbia, CA: Provincial Health Services Authority; 2013.

Provincial Health Services Authority. *Critical Patient Safety Event Review Toolkit*. British Columbia, CA: Provincial Health Services Authority; 2013.

Rafter N, Hickey A, Condell S, Conroy R, O' Connor P, Vaughan D et al. The Irish National Adverse Events Study (INAES): the frequency and nature of adverse events in Irish hospitals — a retrospective record review study. *British Medical Journal of Quality and Safety*. Downloaded from <a href="http://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/early/2016/03/22/bmjqs-2015-004828.full">http://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/early/2016/03/22/bmjqs-2015-004828.full</a> on February 10, 2016.

Rafter N, Hickey A, Condell S, Conroy R, O' Connor P, Vaughan D et al. Adverse Events in Healthcare: learning from mistakes. *Quarterly Journal of Medicine*; 30 July 2014. Downloaded from <u>http://epubs.rcsi.ie/psycholart/82/</u> on February 10, 2016.

State Claims Agency. *Clinical Incident and Claims Report in Maternity and Gynaecology Services – A Five Year Review 2010 – 2014*. Dublin: The State Claims Agency; 2015. Available online from: <u>http://stateclaims.ie/2015/10/state-claims-agency-publishes-major-review-of-irish-maternity-and-gynaecology-services/</u>

World Health Organization. Conceptual Framework for the International Classification for Patient Safety. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009. Available online from: <a href="http://www.who.int/patientsafety/taxonomy/icps\_full\_report.pdf">www.who.int/patientsafety/taxonomy/icps\_full\_report.pdf</a>

# **Glossary of terms in the context** of these standards

**Accountability:** being answerable to another person or organisation for decisions, behaviour and any consequences.

**Advocacy:** the practice of an individual (advocate) acting independently of the service provider on behalf of, and in the interests of, a service user who may feel unable to represent themselves.

Apology: means an expression of regret in respect of a patient safety incident.

**Audit:** the assessment of performance against any standards and criteria (clinical and non-clinical) in a health or mental health service.

**Best practices:** clinical, scientific or professional practices that are recognised by a majority of professionals in a particular field. These practices are typically evidence-based and consensus-driven.

**Clinical audit:** a quality improvement process that seeks to improve care and outcomes through systematic review of care against explicit criteria and the implementation of change.

**Clinical governance:** a system through which service providers are accountable for continuously improving the quality of their clinical practice and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in clinical care will flourish. This includes mechanisms for monitoring clinical quality and safety through structured programmes, for example, clinical audit.

**Competence:** The knowledge, skills, abilities, behaviours, experience and expertise to be able to perform a particular task and activity.

**Confidentiality:** the right of individuals to keep information about themselves from being disclosed.

**Corporate governance:** the system by which the service directs and controls its functions in order to achieve organisational objectives, manage business processes, meet required standards of accountability, integrity and propriety, and relate to external stakeholders.

**Culture:** the shared attitudes, beliefs and values that define a group or groups of people and shape and influence perceptions and behaviours.

**Data:** data are numbers, symbols, words, images, graphics that have yet to be organised or analysed.

**Degree of harm:** the severity and duration of harm, and the treatment implications, that results from an incident.

**Effective:** a measure of the extent to which a specific intervention, procedure, treatment, or service, when delivered, does what it is intended to do for a specific population.

**Evaluation:** a formal process to determine the extent to which the planned or desired outcomes of an intervention are achieved.

**Evidence:** the consistent and systematic identification, analysis and selection of data and information to evaluate options and make decisions in relation to a specific question.

**Family:** an individual who is a parent, guardian, son, daughter, spouse or civil partner of the service user, is cohabiting with the service user, or has been expressly identified by the service user to the service provider as an individual to whom clinical information in relation to the service user may be disclosed. (Adapted from the definition of a connected person as per the *General Scheme on Open Disclosure-Periodic Payment Orders 2015.*) Family involvement is in line with the expressed wishes of the service user.

**Features:** these, taken together, will enable progress towards achieving the standard.

**Harm:** impairment of structure or function of the body and or any detrimental effect arising from this, including disease, injury, suffering, disability and death. Harm may be physical, social or psychological. The degree of harm relates to the severity and duration of harm, and the treatment implications, that result from a patient safety incident. Degrees or levels of harm include:

- None service-user outcome is not symptomatic or no symptoms have been detected and no treatment is required.
- Mild service-user outcome is symptomatic, symptoms are mild, loss of function or harm is minimal or intermediate but short term, and no or minimal intervention (for example, extra observation, investigation, review or minor treatment) is required.
- Moderate service-user outcome is symptomatic, requiring intervention (for example, additional operative procedure or additional therapeutic treatment), an increased length of stay, or causing permanent or long-term harm or loss of function.
- Severe service-user outcome is symptomatic, requiring life-saving intervention or major surgical or medical intervention, shortening life expectancy or causing major permanent or long-term harm or loss of function.
- Death on balance of probabilities, death was caused or brought forward in the short-term by the incident.

(As adapted from the World Health Organization's *Conceptual Framework for the International Classification of Patient Safety*, 2009.)

**Health information:** information, recorded in any form, which is created or communicated by an organisation or individual relating to the past, present or future, physical or mental health or social care of an individual (also referred to as a cohort). Health information also includes information relating to the management of the healthcare system.

**Incident type:** a descriptive term for a category made up of incidents of a common nature grouped because of shared, agreed features.

**Information governance:** the arrangements that service providers have in place to manage information to support their immediate and future regulatory, legal, risk, environmental and operational requirements.

**Informed consent:** the giving of permission or agreement for an intervention, receipt or use of a service or participation in research following a process of communication in which the service user has received sufficient information to enable them to understand the nature, potential risks and benefits of the proposed intervention or service.

**Just culture:** an environment which seeks to balance the need to learn from mistakes and the need to take disciplinary action.

**Mental health service:** a service that provides care and treatment to persons suffering from a mental illness or a mental disorder under the clinical direction of a consultant psychiatrist (Mental Health Act, 2001).

**Monitoring:** systematic process of gathering information and tracking change over time. Monitoring provides a verification of progress towards achievement of objectives and goals.

**Near miss:** an incident that was prevented from occurring due to timely intervention or chance and which there are reasonable grounds for believing could have resulted, if it had not been so prevented, in unintended or unanticipated injury or harm to a service user during the provision of a health service to that service user.

**No harm incident:** an incident occurs which reaches the service user but results in no injury to the service user. Harm is avoided by chance or because of mitigating circumstances.

**Open disclosure:** an open, consistent approach to communicating with service users when things go wrong in healthcare. This includes expressing regret for what has happened, keeping the service user informed, providing feedback on investigations and the steps taken to prevent a reoccurrence of the adverse event.

**Patient safety:** Patient safety: is the term used nationally and internationally to describe the freedom from unnecessary harm or potential harm associated with healthcare services and the reduction of risk of unnecessary harm to an acceptable minimum (World Health Organization, 2009). Where the term patient is used to describe 'patient safety incident', 'quality and patient safety committees' or 'patient safety data', it is intended to encompass all definitions of people who use healthcare (including mental health) services, such as service users in both acute and community healthcare settings.

**Patient safety data:** the broad and heterogeneous information that includes, but is not limited to, the description of incidents with medical errors or near misses, their causes, the follow-up corrective actions, interventions that reduce future risk and patient safety hazards.

**Patient safety incident:** As defined in the Health Information and Patient Safety Bill Revised General Scheme (2015) a 'patient safety incident' means:

- a) any unintended or unanticipated injury or harm to a service user that occurred during the provision of a health service,
- b) an event that occurred when providing a health service to a service user that did not result in actual injury or harm but there are reasonable grounds to believe that the event concerned placed the service user at risk of unintended or unanticipated injury or harm,
- c) an incident that was prevented from occurring due to timely intervention or chance and which there are reasonable grounds for believing could have resulted, if it had not been so prevented, in unintended or unanticipated injury or harm to a service user during the provision of a health service to that service user.

**Policy:** a written operational statement of intent which helps staff make appropriate decisions and take actions, consistent with the aims of the service provider and in the best interest of service users.

**Pseudonymisation:** is the technical process of replacing service user labels (that is to say, data items which identify service users, such as name, date of birth) in a dataset with other values (pseudonyms), from which the identities of individuals cannot be intrinsically inferred (adapted from Caldicott Guardian, NHS; 2009).

**Review of a patient safety incident:** reviews of patient safety incidents involve a structured analysis and are conducted using best practice methods, to determine what happened, how it happened, why it happened, and whether there are learning points for the service, wider organisation, or nationally.

**Risk:** Risk is the effect of uncertainty on objectives. It is measured in terms of consequences and likelihood.

**Risk management:** Coordinated activities to direct and control an organisation with regard to risk.

**Safety culture:** an integrated pattern of individual and organisational behaviour, based upon shared beliefs and values, which continuously seeks to minimise service-user harm which may result from the processes of care delivery.

**Service:** a 'service' is used to describe any acute hospital or mental health service where care is provided to adults and or children.

**Service provider:** a 'service provider' is used to describe any organisation or part of an organisation, including its workforce, delivering acute hospital and mental health services to adults and or children.

**Service user:** a 'service user' refers to a person who uses healthcare (including mental health) services.

**Service-user outcome:** the impact upon a service user which is wholly or partially attributable to an incident.

**Service-wide:** at all levels within the overall organisational structure, including national, hospital group/community health organisation and service delivery levels.

**Staff:** the people who work in healthcare and mental health services, including but not limited to healthcare professionals, care assistants, laboratory staff, administrative staff, catering staff, cleaning staff and security staff.

**Standard:** describes the high-level outcome required to achieve a quality, safe service.

**Taxonomy:** a system for naming and organising items into groups that share similar characteristics.

# **Appendices**

#### Appendix 1 Types of reviews of patient safety incidents

There are a number of types of reviews of patient safety incidents which make use of high-quality, consistent and systematic methods. Depending on the type of patient safety incident, a multi-method approach may be required to conduct a review. Some of the review types include but are not limited to:

**After-action review:** an after-action review is a discussion of an event that enables the individuals involved to learn for themselves what happened, why it happened, what went well, what needs improvement and the lessons learnt. The after-action review seeks to understand the expectations of all those involved and provides insight into events and behaviours in a timely way with the learning leading to personal awareness and action.

**Aggregate review:** an aggregate review is a type of root-cause analysis of multiple occurrences of the same type of incident.

**Human factors analysis:** a review to identify the role of human factors in patient safety incidents, in terms of the type and nature of human factors' involvement in safety-related incidents and how they interact with other causes.

**Systems analysis investigation of an incident:** a methodical investigation of an incident which involves collection of data from the literature, records (general records in the case of non-clinical incidents and healthcare records in the case of clinical incidents), individual interviews with those involved where the incident occurred and analysis of this data.

The aim is to establish the chronology of events that lead up to the incident, identifying the key causal factors that the investigator or investigators considered had an effect on the eventual adverse outcome. It also aims to determine the contributory factors, and recommended control actions to address these in order to prevent future harm arising as far as is reasonably practicable.

## Appendix 2 Membership of the Standards Advisory Group

Member	Representing
Angela Tysall	Health Service Executive (HSE), Quality Improvement Division
Ann Duffy	State Claims Agency
Aoife Lenihan	Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA)
Barbara Foley	HIQA
Clare O'Neill	HSE, Mental Health Division
Cornelia Stuart	HSE, Quality Assurance and Verification Division
Deirdre Hyland	Mental Health Commission (Joint Project Lead)
Emma Balmaine	Private Hospitals Association of Ireland
Kara Madden	World Health Organization Patients for Patient Safety
Kathleen Mac Lellan <sup>20</sup>	Department of Health, National Patient Safety Office
Margaret Brennan	HSE, Acute Hospitals Division
Marie Kehoe O'Sullivan	HIQA (Co-Chairperson)
Oliver Mernagh	HSE, St James's Hospital
Patrick Lynch	HSE, Quality Assurance and Verification Division
Patsy Fitzsimons	Office of the Ombudsman
Sarah Murphy	HIQA (Joint Project Lead)
Roisin O'Leary	Patient Focus
Rosemary Smyth	Mental Health Commission (Co-Chairperson)

<sup>20</sup> Ms Susan Reilly attended two meetings on behalf of Dr Kathleen Mac Lellan.

## **Standards Development Project Team**

ΗΙQA	МНС
Sarah Murphy, Project Lead	Deirdre Hyland, Project Lead
Victoria O' Dwyer, Research Officer	Elena Hamilton, Quality Assurance and Regulatory Officer
	Kate Frowein, Quality Assurance and Regulatory Officer

Published by the Mental Health Commission and the Health Information and Quality Authority.

#### For further information please contact:



Mental Health Commission Waterloo Exchange Waterloo Road Dublin 4 D04 E5W7

Phone: +353 (0) 1 636 2400 URL: www.mhcirl.ie



Health Information and Quality Authority Dublin Regional Office George's Court, George's Lane Smithfield, Dublin 7 D07 E98Y

Phone: +353 (0) 1 814 7400 URL: www.hiqa.ie